

Bioinspired Vascular Grafts

David Miranda-Nieves, Amnie Ashour, and Elliot L. Chaikof

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Structural Considerations					
	2.1	2.1 Structural Proteins: Collagen and Elastin				
	2.2	Cellular Components: Endothelial Cells, Smooth Muscle Cells, and Adventitial				
		Fibroblasts	8			
	2.3	Structural Considerations in Vascular Grafts	9			
3	Mechanical Considerations					
	3.1	Hyperelasticity and Compliance	11			
	3.2	Residual Stress	13			
	3.3	Mechanical Considerations in Vascular Grafts	13			
4	Biological Considerations					
	4.1	Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotype	14			
	4.2	Endothelial Cell Phenotype	15			
	4.3	Adventitial Fibroblast Phenotype	15			
	4.4	Biological Considerations in Vascular Grafts	15			
5	Conclusions					
Re	References 1					

D. Miranda-Nieves · E. L. Chaikof (⊠)

A. Ashour

Department of Surgery, Harvard Medical School, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA

Renaissance School of Medicine, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA e-mail: amnie.ashour@stonybrookmedicine.edu

Program in Health Sciences and Technology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

Department of Surgery, Harvard Medical School, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA

Wyss Institute for Biologically Inspired Engineering, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: dmiranda@mit.edu; echaikof@bidmc.harvard.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Eberli et al. (eds.), *Organ Tissue Engineering*, Reference Series in Biomedical Engineering, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-44211-8 15

Abstract

A durable, synthetic small-caliber bypass graft has not been identified for revascularization of vessels less than 6 mm in diameter, and there exists limited availability of autologous conduits suitable for transplant. Consequently, alternative approaches have focused on designing arterial prostheses through the mimicry of some or all of the characteristics of the arterial wall. Notwithstanding early reports of promising results, important limitations remain associated with tissue engineering strategies, and the design of a living arterial substitute remains elusive. This chapter aims to describe the structural, mechanical, and biological properties of blood vessels and discuss the design considerations that must be implemented to realize the promise of bioinspired vascular grafts.

1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) affects over 80 million adults in the United States and represents a leading cause of death globally (Benjamin et al. 2019). CVD is most often due to progressive atherosclerosis, which may lead to plaque rupture and arterial occlusion with attendant clinical consequences of myocardial infarction, stroke, or amputation. While mild to moderate CVD can often be treated with modification in diet and lifestyle, as well as medications that limit the progression of atherosclerosis or risk of thrombosis, surgical and catheter-based interventions remain a mainstay of treatment, particularly for symptomatic disease. Catheter-based procedures, such as angioplasty, stenting, and atherectomy are commonly used to treat stenotic vessels or obstructive lesions (DeRubertis et al. 2007; Mwipatayi et al. 2008; McKinsey et al. 2008). Nonetheless, over 500,000 surgical bypass procedures, using a synthetic or autologous conduit, are performed annually in the United States (Go et al. 2013). Despite advances in minimally invasive, catheter-based interventions, including drug-coated stents and balloons, bypass surgery continues to be required for many patients and represents an optimal choice for durable long-term revascularization (Weintraub et al. 2012).

Despite a role for both synthetic and autologous conduits, their clinical performance remains suboptimal. The reconstruction of a large diameter vessel (>6 mm), such as the aorta, can be successfully performed using a synthetic prosthesis (Brewster 1997; Qu and Chaikof 2010). However, synthetic polymeric grafts display limited long-term patency when used in the femoral-popliteal position and exhibit very poor patency for tibial revascularization (Pereira et al. 2006; Van Der Slegt et al. 2014). The 1-year patency of synthetic polymeric conduits in the femoral-popliteal position is approximately 70% (Johnson and Lee 2000; Piffaretti et al. 2018). In general, a durable small-caliber synthetic bypass graft has not been identified for revascularization of vessels that are less than 6 mm in diameter, such as the coronary arteries.

Autologous grafts display higher patency rates than synthetic conduits but also suffer from a number of limitations (Klinkert et al. 2004; Goldman et al. 2004).

When used for coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery, internal mammary artery (IMA) grafts exhibit patency as high as 93% at 10 years, (Loop et al. 1986; Berger et al. 2004; Taggart et al. 2019), and radial artery (RA) grafts have likewise been associated with low rates of stenosis and graft failure (Gaudino et al. 2018). However, the availability and length of IMA and RA conduits are limited. For this reason, saphenous vein grafts continue to be widely used, especially for multi-vessel revascularization. However, vein graft patency is less durable than one might expect, with failure of at least one vein graft commonly occurring within 12 to 18 months after CABG surgery (Mehta et al. 2011; Hess et al. 2014) and the occurrence of a hemodynamically significant stenosis or graft occlusion in 40% of vein grafts 1 year after lower extremity bypass surgery (Conte et al. 2006). Moreover, a suitable venous conduit is often unavailable in many older adults that have had prior surgery or who present with additional comorbid conditions (Kumar et al. 2011).

Vein graft failure has typically been attributed to intimal hyperplasia, which, when hemodynamically significant, leads to acute graft thrombosis (Sottiurai et al. 1983; Motwani and Topol 1998). Factors at the time of initial harvest of a vein graft that contribute to the development of intimal hyperplasia include ischemiareperfusion injury of the vein wall that may cause endothelial and smooth muscle cell damage with release of pro-inflammatory factors, uncontrolled smooth muscle cell (SMC) proliferation, and extracellular matrix (ECM) production, particularly at the site of venous valves (Clowes 1993; Lemson et al. 2000; De Vries et al. 2016). A number of reports have also demonstrated that a mismatch in mechanical compliance between synthetic polymeric vascular conduits (0.2–1.9%/100 mmHg), autologous vein grafts (0.5–3%/100 mmHg), and native artery (5–15%/100 mmHg) can also initiate maladaptive biological responses that contribute to anastomotic intimal hyperplasia and subsequent graft failure (Abbott et al. 1987; Ballyk et al. 1997). Additional limitations of polymeric grafts include their susceptibility to bacterial colonization and infection and an inability of the synthetic conduit to grow in pediatric patients necessitating subsequent surgical intervention. Thus, there remains a critical need to address these shortcomings.

A current perspective held in tissue engineering is that an ideal vascular conduit would reproduce both the structure of a native artery and its related biological and mechanical characteristics (Fig. 1). In this chapter, we summarize past and current

Fig. 1 Bioinspired vascular grafts should aim to recapitulate the structural, mechanical, and biological characteristics of native arteries



approaches to engineer a living blood vessel; the ability of each of these strategies to recapitulate the structural, mechanical, and biological characteristics of a native artery; and the existing shortcomings of these schemes.

2 Structural Considerations

The arterial wall, like many tissues in the body, can be represented as a reinforced composite of structural proteins that protect and orient living cells. It is characterized by a well-defined muscular layer that is responsible for providing strength, controlling vascular tone, and determining overall biomechanical responses. For this reason, the design of a bioinspired vascular conduit must be informed by (1) identifying the key cellular and acellular components responsible for the functional properties of a blood vessel (Fig. 2) and (2) an understanding of the architecture and organization of each component within the vessel wall (Table 1).

2.1 Structural Proteins: Collagen and Elastin

Collagen represents 20% to 50% of the dry weight of the arterial wall, present in the basement membrane and the interstitial matrix, and plays a crucial role in cell



Fig. 2 *Histological representation of a native artery.* The Intima (I) consists of a monolayer of endothelial cells, and a basement membrane, a mesh-like substrate of type IV collagen. The Media is composed of networks of elastin (elastic lamellae) and circumferentially aligned smooth muscle cells and crimped collagen fibers (Col I and III). The Adventitia (A) consists of randomly aligned collagen fibers (Col I and III) and fibroblasts. (Modified with permission from Gasser et al. 2006)

	Source	Location	Function	Organization
Collagen (I, III, IV)	Fibroblasts and SMCs	Tunica intima, media, adventitia	Provides mechanical support and strength and influences cell function through mechanotransduction pathways	Col I, III: Circumferentially aligned, crimped fibers Col IV: Mesh-like structure
Elastin	SMCs	Tunica media (elastic lamellae)	Component of arterial ECM that provides elasticity/recoil and allows interlamellar communication	Concentric 3 µm thick lamellae
Endothelial cells	Mesoderm	Luminal side of tunica intima	Regulates thrombotic and inflammatory responses	Monolayer of polygonal shaped cells
Smooth muscle cells	Ectoderm, Mesoderm	Tunica media	ECM production, vaso- responsiveness, and regulates inflammatory responses	Circumferential orientation
Fibroblasts	Mesoderm	Tunica adventitia	ECM production and vessel wall regulation	Isotropic alignment

Table 1 Structural components of the arterial wall

behavior and vessel wall biomechanics (Linsenmayer 1991; Shoulders and Raines 2009). Closest to the luminal side, the subendothelial basement membrane, comprised mainly of type IV collagen, serves as a mesh-like physical barrier that protects and regulates normal endothelial function (Sand et al. 2016). The interstitial matrix is composed of type I and III collagens in the medial and adventitial layers (Shekhonin et al. 1985). As opposed to type IV, collagens I and III are structured into circumferentially aligned bundles of collagen fibers, with a characteristic 10 to 200 μ m crimped or undulating morphology, which is an important determinant of passive and active biomechanical responses (Rezakhaniha et al. 2012; Robertson and Watton 2013). Genetic defects of either fibril-forming collagen can affect vascular wall strength and increases the likelihood of aneurysm formation, as in the case of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (Sasaki et al. 1987).

Elastin is the second most common structural protein in the arterial wall and is secreted by vascular smooth muscle cells as tropoelastin, which undergoes post-translational modifications to form cross-linked, mature fibers (Parks et al. 1993). Elastin fibers are 1000 times more flexible than collagen and are found in high abundance in the aorta, where it comprises approximately 30% of the dry weight of the vessel wall (Debelle and Tamburro 1999). Elastin forms unique structures known as elastic lamellae, which consists of fibers arranged in 3 μ m thick concentric fenestrated lamellae that confer elastic recoil and resilience to the arterial wall, and permits transmural delivery of nutrients and electrolytes (Mithieux and Weiss 2005).

2.2 Cellular Components: Endothelial Cells, Smooth Muscle Cells, and Adventitial Fibroblasts

Endothelial cells (ECs) populate the innermost layer of the arterial wall, where they are in direct contact with blood. This mesoderm-derived specialized epithelium is organized into a semipermeable monolayer that adheres to the basal lamina. Within the native artery, endothelial cell morphology is defined by polygonal-shaped cells, elongated in the direction of blood flow, measuring 12 to 25 µm in length (Garipcan et al. 2011). ECs are a unique cellular subset, due to the presence of tight intercellular and adherens junctions, which serve to regulate cell permeability and membrane polarity, as well as modulate endothelial cell growth through contact inhibition (Bazzoni and Dejana 2004; Lampugnani 2012). As the blood-contacting surface in the arterial wall, endothelial cells have been found to express various molecules that regulate blood homeostasis (Sumpio et al. 2002; Esmon 2005). For example, thrombomodulin, found in the membrane of ECs, inhibits blood coagulation by catalyzing thrombin-induced activation of the protein C pathway (Esmon 1989; Stearns-Kurosawa et al. 1996). Similarly, heparan sulfate is a surface proteoglycan on the luminal aspect of the endothelium, which contains a unique pentasaccharide motif that is recognized by antithrombin III (ATIII), binds to factor IIa (thrombin) and factor Xa, and inhibits clot formation (Bernfield et al. 1999; Rabenstein 2002). Heparan sulfate also facilitates leukocyte adhesion and diapedesis (Parish 2006).

Vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs) are contractile, bi- or multinucleated cells, with a spindle-shaped morphology that populate the arterial tunica media. Most SMCs have been reported to be mesoderm derived; however, those that populate the aorta and pulmonary arteries are derived from neural crest cells (Le Lièvre and Le Douarin 1975). Within the arterial wall, SMCs are tightly packed in a circumferentially aligned manner, and, unlike endothelial cells, each cell is surrounded by a 40 to 80 nm thick basal lamina suspended in a collagen fibril matrix with alternating rings of elastic lamellae (Rhodin 1979; Clark and Glagov 1985). In healthy adults, SMCs are non-proliferative, are metabolically quiescent, and are not actively migrating or proliferating (Bacakova et al. 2018). As the primary cellular component of the arterial media, SMCs are vaso-responsive to Ca^{2+} , myogenic stretch, as well as endothelin, nitric oxide, and prostacyclin secreted by endothelial cells (Wilson 2011).

Adventitial fibroblasts populate the outer most layer of the arterial wall, where they regulate production and organization of undulated collagen fibers that serve to limit vessel overdistension (Stenmark et al. 2013). For years, the adventitia was commonly considered a supporting tissue. However, recent studies have identified adventitial fibroblasts as key regulators of the vessel wall response to hormonal, inflammatory, and environmental stresses, such as hypoxia, ischemia, or hypertension (Stenmark et al. 2011). Activated adventitial fibroblasts have been found to proliferate and upregulate the release of chemokines leading to adventitial remodeling and neointimal hyperplasia (Shi et al. 1996; Sartore et al. 2001). Overall, adventitial fibroblasts are capable of regulating vascular structure and function

through the secretion of growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines that serve to communicate with adventitial neural cells, circulating inflammatory cells, and neighboring SMCs and ECs (Sorrell and Caplan 2009).

2.3 Structural Considerations in Vascular Grafts

In 1986, Crispin Weinberg and Eugene Bell published the first report of "a blood vessel model" for the replacement of small-caliber vessels. They encapsulated fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells in casted collagen tubes, supported with a Dacron mesh, lined with endothelial cells (Weinberg and Bell 1986). Although the end result was a weak construct that "grossly resembled a muscular artery," this work motivated further investigations aimed at engineered vessels that mimicked the structure of native arteries.

Buijtenhuijs et al. subsequently developed a semi-aligned, porous scaffold consisting of collagen and elastin fibers and seeded it with vascular smooth muscle cells (Buijtenhuijs et al. 2004). They were among the first to explore strategies for controlling structural protein morphology and orientation within a vessel wall by tuning the freeze-drying of a suspension of insoluble type I collagen and elastin. Since then, electrospinning and wet-spinning have also been used to control the organization of collagen and elastin fibers (Buttafoco et al. 2006; McClure et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2013; Ahn et al. 2015). These modalities consist of the continuous formation of polymer filaments by either mechanical extrusion into coagulation baths or electrostatic repulsion between polymer solutions and charged surfaces (Miranda-Nieves and Chaikof 2017). As an example, Caves et al. developed a continuous wet-spinning system for the extrusion of synthetic collagen fibers into a 10 wt% polyethylene glycol bath and, after embedding within a recombinant elastin-like protein matrix, generated a vascular graft that resembled the reinforced composite structure of the arterial wall and the circumferential alignment of collagen fibers within the tunica media (Caves et al. 2010a, b).

Approximating the crimped morphology of native collagen fibrils has been possible through molding and chemical treatment (Caves et al. 2010c; Liu et al. 2015). For example, Naik et al. developed a MEMS-based micromolding approach capable of producing in-plane crimped microfibers with a crimp-periodicity of about 100 μ m (Naik et al. 2014), and Kumar et al. used excimer-laser technology to ablate collagen lamellae without protein denaturing (Kumar et al. 2014). In both cases, sheets of crimped collagen fibrils were generated, which exhibited orthotropic tensile properties.

On another hand, various groups have focused on recapitulating the structure of native vessels through an approach driven by cellular engineering. For example, vascular conduits have been produced by rolling sheets of fibroblasts or smooth muscle cells produced over a 3- to 7-week period (L'Heureux et al. 1998, 2006). Cell-sheet engineered grafts have shown to recapitulate the lamellar structure of

arteries and the position of vascular cells. Complementary strategies, such as patterned polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) substrates and dynamic mechanical stimulation, have been successfully employed to guide cell sheet alignment during growth or after maturation, in order to better approximate the arterial microstructure (Xing et al. 2017; Rim et al. 2018). For instance, Isenberg et al. cultured smooth muscle cells on gelatin-coated, micropatterned PDMS and produced cell sheets with alignment in the same direction as the pattern (Isenberg et al. 2012). Similarly, Gauvin et al. reported that mechanical stimulation of 10% strain at a frequency of 1 Hz for 3 days significantly enhanced fibroblasts cell sheet alignment (Gauvin et al. 2011).

Other approaches have leveraged advances in polymer science to generate synthetic, biodegradable scaffolds for direct implantation or ex-vivo cell seeding and mechanical preconditioning (Roh et al. 2009; Dahl et al. 2011; Svedain et al. 2016). The goal of these approaches is to rely upon cell-mediated synthesis of ECM, with a number of strategies applied to control ECM composition, organization, and architecture. Successful strategies have included the use of perfusion bioreactors with control over pulse rate and cyclic distension to increase production of structural proteins (Solan et al. 2003; Syedain et al. 2008); culture medium supplementation with organic and inorganic compounds that enhance matrix remodeling and crosslinking (Neidert et al. 2002; Dahl et al. 2005); and controlled release of growth factors and recombinant chemokines in order to modulate inflammation and promote cellular migration (Wu et al. 2012; Yu et al. 2012). As an example, Huang et al. discovered that biaxial preconditioning of SMC-seeded, polyglycolic acid (PGA)based scaffolds enhances the formation of mature elastin fiber and undulated collagen fibrils (Huang et al. 2015, 2016). Similarly, Roh et al. reported that the release of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) modulated monocyte recruitment, promoted migration and proliferation of adjacent vascular wall cells, and overall resulted in the in situ remodeling of poly(L-lactide-co-caprolactone) [PLCL] scaffolds (Roh et al. 2010).

Notwithstanding reports of promising results (McAllister et al. 2009; Syedain et al. 2017; Kirkton et al. 2019), cell-based strategies remain limited by the absence of protocols for the rapid and scalable production of patient-specific vascular wall cells and need for decellularization before implantation (Wystrychowski et al. 2014; Lawson et al. 2016). More specifically, studies have revealed feasibility challenges when using cells isolated from the intended patient population (>65 years old), or allogeneic sources, including reduced proliferation and ECM production due to telomere shortening (Poh et al. 2005), and immune rejection associated with HLA mismatching. Recent reports have sought to address these limitations by deriving SMCs and ECs from patient-specific human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), which have unlimited proliferation capacity (Wang et al. 2014; Patsch et al. 2015; Gui et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2017). Similarly, multiplex genome editing has been employed to selectively ablate HLA class I and II molecules and introduce immunoregulatory factors in order to evade both the adaptive and innate immune mechanisms of immune rejection (Deuse et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019; Han et al. 2019). However, the scalability and efficacy of these approaches remains uncertain.

3 Mechanical Considerations

The biomechanical characterization of engineered arterial substitutes has been largely limited to evaluating burst pressure and suture retention, with the goal of matching these discrete values to those reported for arteries or saphenous vein. Although important metrics, these parameters provide relatively limited insight into the biomechanical properties of the engineered conduit, which influence cellular responses, tissue remodeling, and long-term conduit durability. In this section, we will discuss (1) the mechanical behavior of native arteries and (2) unique mechanical considerations in the design of an engineered living blood vessel that influence both early and late performance characteristics of the conduit.

3.1 Hyperelasticity and Compliance

Arteries are constantly subject to cyclic mechanical stress and can compensate for alterations in intravascular blood volume with minimal changes in pressure through modulating vascular tone. Collagen and elastin, and their unique structural organization, are responsible for the nonlinear responses of arteries to loading forces (Wagenseil and Mecham 2009). At low radial stretch, less than 10% of collagen fibers are engaged and aligned with unfolding of elastic lamellae dictating mechanical behavior. Large radial changes result in marginal increases in pressure. Beyond the range of physiological pressure (80 to 120 mmHg), collagen bears the load with the recruitment, circumferential alignment, and straightening of undulated fibers, leading to marginal radius changes with increasing pressure (Fig. 3). Recent studies have shown that elastic stretching and architecture, as well as collagen fibril recruitment and straightening varies within the arterial wall, in order to compensate the



Pressure

circumferential stretch experienced during radial distension (Zeinali-Davarani et al. 2015; Yu et al. 2018a, b).

When arteries are pressurized, they are subjected to distention in all directions. Many constitutive models have been used to calculate the stress-strain response of the arterial wall from pressure-diameter curves (Başar and Weichert 2000). The most commonly used formulation is the hyperelasticity model in which the vessel is treated as an orthotropic, cylindrical body in which all net strains are oriented along the circumferential, longitudinal, and radial directions (Dorbin 1978; Gasser et al. 2006). Longitudinal and circumferential stresses (σ) are calculated as:

$$\sigma = \frac{P\lambda}{ALt} \tag{1}$$

where *P* is the inflation pressure, λ is the stretch, *L* is the initial length, *t* is the thickness of the tissue, and *A* is the cross-sectional area of the cylinder. Similarly, strain (*E*) can be defined by:

$$E = \frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda^2 - 1 \right) \tag{2}$$

Compliance mismatch is an important failure mode, which can be characterized through the arterial pressure-diameter relationship. Compliance (c) represents the percent change in diameter over a physiologic range of pressure and is calculated as:

$$c = \frac{d_{120} - d_{80}}{d_{80} (P_{120} - P_{80})} \times 10^4$$
(3)

where *d* is diameter and *P* is inflation pressure (Robertson and Watton 2013). Arterial compliance (%/100 mmHg) varies with vessel type and location, ranging from 8.0 to 17.0, 6.5 to 12.0, and 6.0 to 14.1%/100 mmHg, for coronary, internal thoracic, and the femoral arteries, respectively (Kumar et al. 2011). Precise methodologies, such as laser micrometry and pressure myography, should be employed to accurately measure outer diameter and pressure and successfully quantify compliance in the 80 to 120 mmHg pressure range. Laser micrometry uses a laser to scan a field, and by detecting the time during which the laser path is obstructed, the dimensions of any sample can be calculated (Syedain et al. 2011). Pressure myography relies upon recording changes in diameter using a high-resolution camera placed over a conduit that is mounted onto small cannulae during the course of pressurization (Schjørring et al. 2015).

The pressure-diameter, stress-strain, and compliance characteristics of a saphenous vein are significantly different than those responses measured for arterial blood vessels (Li 2018). Due to reduced elastin content and a lower number of elastic lamellae, stiffening occurs at lower pressures (Fig. 3), with the saphenous vein exhibiting a significantly lower compliance (0.7–2.6%/100 mmHg) (Lee et al. 2013). For this reason, when used as an arterial substitute, elevated arterial pressure induces increased stress in the vein wall, promotes smooth muscle cell proliferation and matrix production, and, as a consequence, increases the risk of intimal hyperplasia (Li 2018).

3.2 Residual Stress

In the 1960s, Bergel performed an experiment in which he prepared cross-sectional rings of excised, intact, unloaded arteries, and noted that when cut radially "an artery will unroll itself" (Bergel 1960). This was the first report of stress in an artery even when there is no distending pressure. The cut ring "opens" to minimize stored strainenergy, as the inner wall is in compression and the outer wall in tension (Humphrey 2002). This residual stress is the result of differences in the waviness of the elastic lamellae between the inner and outer wall (Yu et al. 2018a). Direct quantification of residual stress (Λ) is not a simple task. Thus, surrogate measures of residual strain have been employed, such as measurements of the opening angle after a radial cut (Matsumoto et al. 2015).

$$\Lambda = \frac{\pi \left(R_a^2 - R_i^2\right)}{\Theta \left(r_a^2 - r_i^2\right)} \tag{4}$$

where *R* is the adventitial or intimal radius prior to cutting, Θ is the observed opening angle, and *r* is the adventitial or intimal radius after cutting. Residual stress provides an indirect measurement of arterial wall stress and the mechanical microenvironment within the vessel wall.

3.3 Mechanical Considerations in Vascular Grafts

Reports of engineered arterial substitutes have focused almost entirely on optimizing burst pressure and suture retention strength while lacking attention to many critical biomechanical parameters discussed in this chapter. Nonetheless, some reports have identified these limitations and proposed modified design strategies (Dahl et al. 2007). For instance, failure to match the hyperelastic behavior of native tissues due to inferior collagen and elastin organization has been addressed by tuning initial polymer concentration (Cummings et al. 2004; Lai et al. 2012) and establishing fabrication protocols with increased control over ECM composition, organization, and architecture (Hall et al. 2016; Xing et al. 2017; Yokoyama et al. 2017). In particular, construct fabricated with pre-stretch, electrospun PLCL fibers at various orientations recapitulated the nonlinear stress-strain behavior of native arteries (Niu et al. 2019).

Variations in polymer composition, organization, and architecture, as well as cyclic pre-conditioning, have proven tunable strategies for designing constructs with control over compliance and residual stress (Niklason et al. 2001; Huang et al. 2016; Niu et al. 2019). For example, McClure et al. reported that altering

combinations of collagen, elastin, and synthetic polymers in electrospun grafts allowed precise control over the compliance of the conduits (McClure et al. 2010). Caves et al. employed a fabrication scheme in which a range of collagen fiber orientation and volume fractions were investigated, and reported compliance from 2.8 to 8.4%/100 mmHg, matching values reported for major arteries of interest (Caves et al. 2010a). Huang et al. fabricated constructs through biaxial preconditioning of cell-seeded PGA scaffolds with increased conduit compliance due to the formation of mature elastin fiber and crimped collagen fibrils (Huang et al. 2015, 2016).

Noteworthy, the capacity for biomechanical properties to vary post-implantation has also been reported. In a clinical study, 25 patients were enrolled in an arteriovenous (A-V) shunt safety trial, and the compliance 6-month post-implantation increased approximately threefold (L'Heureux et al. 2007; Konig et al. 2009), suggesting that consideration should also be given to the role of in vivo remodeling in the long-term performance of vascular grafts.

4 Biological Considerations

The biological characterization of engineered living arterial grafts has almost exclusively been focused on evaluating cell infiltration and stem cell differentiation. Limited insight has been obtained surrounding the phenotypic variations of cellular components within vascular grafts. In this section, we will discuss (1) the key phenotypic biomarkers of vascular smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and adventitial fibroblasts and (2) biological considerations in the design of living blood vessels.

4.1 Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotype

Smooth muscle cells are a highly specialized and differentiated cell. Under normal conditions, SMCs are elongated, spindle-shaped, non-proliferative, metabolically quiesced, and functionally contractile (Rensen et al. 2007). They are associated with elevated expression of contractile apparatus proteins, such as α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), calponin, smoothelin, and smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (SM-MHC) (Owens 1995). However, SMCs are remarkably plastic and can shift phenotype in order to adapt to fluctuating environmental cues, physical stressors, and biochemical alterations. In response to vessel injury, SMCs have been documented to proliferate, migrate, and over-secrete EMC molecules, in particular fibronectin (Gomez and Owens 2012). This de-differentiated synthetic state is associated with loss of contractile proteins, a rhomboid morphology, and expression of proteolytic enzymes and inflammatory cytokines, such as MCP-1 (Bennett et al. 2016). Overall, human arteries may contain a heterogeneous mixture of contractile and synthetic functions (Hao et al. 2003).

4.2 Endothelial Cell Phenotype

Mechanical forces, soluble growth factors, and cytokines, as well as contact with tissue-based cells and ECM protein, regulate endothelial cell phenotype. Under normal conditions, ECs are quiescent, anticoagulant, anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidative, and non-angiogenic with a low replicative capacity (Cines et al. 1998). Quiescent ECs exhibit cobblestone morphology and express markers such as VE-cadherin, PECAM-1, CD34, and CD36 (Lin et al. 2000). However, in response to physical and biological stressors, endothelial cells can de-differentiate into an activated, proinflammatory state (Liao 2013). Activated ECs are associated with loss of vascular integrity, causing efflux of fluid into the extravascular space; expression of leucocyte adhesion molecules, such as selectins, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1; prothrombogenicity, due to loss of surface expressed thrombomodulin; and increased cytokine production, such as IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1 (Hunt and Jurd 1998).

4.3 Adventitial Fibroblast Phenotype

The principal function of adventitial fibroblasts is the deposition of isotropic collagen bundles that provide support and prevent overdistension. However, in response to hormonal, inflammatory, and environmental stresses such as hypoxia, ischemia, or hypertension, adventitial fibroblasts undergo phenotypic switching into myofibroblasts, characterized by the expression of contractile proteins, in particular α -SMA; secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TGF- β ; increased proliferation and synthetic activity; as well as enhanced migration and functional contractility (Strauss and Rabinovitch 2000; Maiellaro and Taylor 2007). Adventitial fibroblast activation significantly alters the vessel wall microstructure, with the overaccumulation of ECM proteins, such as collagen, elastin, and fibronectin, influencing vessel elasticity and flow dynamics (Desmoulière et al. 2005), and increased cell migration associated with neointimal hyperplasia (Kalra et al. 2000; Misra et al. 2010).

4.4 Biological Considerations in Vascular Grafts

For most reports of tissue engineered vascular grafts, the extent of biological characterization has been limited to identifying post-implant cell infiltration or assessing stem cells differentiation in pre-seeded scaffolds (Koobatian et al. 2016; Syedain et al. 2017; Kirkton et al. 2019). Although an indication of tissue remodeling, such information provides relatively limited insight into the late performance characteristics of vascular conduits. A recent viewpoint in the tissue engineering of living blood vessels is that cellular phenotype should be a key consideration when selecting design strategies. More specifically, fabrication approaches should aim to generate constructs that induce contractile SMCs,

quiescent ECs, and inactivated fibroblasts. As an example, Yokoyama et al. fabricated arterial grafts by varying hydrostatic pressure and evaluated expression levels of SMC markers, such as fibronectin, collagen, and elastin, to identify the ideal conditions that resulted in a contractile phenotype (Yokoyama et al. 2017). Similarly, iPSC-derived SMCs were examined for an array of biomarkers, including α -SMA, calponin, smoothelin, SM-MHC, collagen, and elastin, in order to determine serum and growth factor concentrations optimal for cell maturation (Wanjare et al. 2013, 2014).

5 Conclusions

Surgical revascularization of small diameter vessels remains a clinical challenge given limited availability of suitable arterial conduits. Synthetic and autologous grafts exhibit poor 1-year patency rates and are often constrained by availability and length. These challenges have motivated the development of tissue-engineering strategies. Preclinical and early clinical reports describe the use of vascular grafts produced by cellular engineering or from a variety of natural and synthetic biode-gradable scaffolds with the potential for ex vivo preconditioning or direct in vivo implantation. Likewise, polymer- and cellular-based approaches have been explored to better recapitulate properties of the arterial wall. However, the design of a durable synthetic small-caliber bypass graft remains elusive.

A current perspective in blood vessel engineering suggests that an ideal living arterial conduit should reproduce both the structure of a native artery and its related biological and mechanical characteristics. In this chapter, we have summarized the characteristics of native arteries and discussed approaches to engineer living blood vessels that replicate these features. It has been noted that many published fabrication schemes lack a holistic view of the native artery as a unique structure that dictates overall biomechanical properties and influences cellular responses, tissue remodeling, and long-term conduit durability. For this reason, we conclude that future design strategies should be informed by the structural, mechanical, and biological considerations discussed herein.

References

- Abbott WM, Megerman J, Hasson JE et al (1987) Effect of compliance mismatch on vascular graft patency. J Vasc Surg 5:376–382
- Ahn H, Ju YM, Takahashi H et al (2015) Engineered small diameter vascular grafts by combining cell sheet engineering and electrospinning technology. Acta Biomater 16:14–22
- Bacakova L, Travnickova M, Filova E et al (2018) The role of vascular smooth muscle cells in the physiology and pathophysiology of blood vessels. In: Muscle cell and tissue current status of research field. InTech, London, UK
- Ballyk PD, Walsh C, Butany J, Ojha M (1997) Compliance mismatch may promote graft–artery intimal hyperplasia by altering suture-line stresses. J Biomech 31:229–237
- Başar Y, Weichert D (2000) Nonlinear continuum mechanics of solids. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg

- Bazzoni G, Dejana E (2004) Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions: molecular organization and role in vascular homeostasis. Physiol Rev 84:869–901
- Benjamin EJ, Paul Muntner C, Chair Alvaro Alonso V et al (2019) Heart disease and stroke statistics 2019 update. Circulation 139:56–528
- Bennett MR, Sinha S, Owens GK (2016) Vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis. Circ Res 118:692–702

Bergel DH (1960) The visco-elastic properties of the arterial wall. University of London, London, UK

- Berger A, MacCarthy PA, Siebert U et al (2004) Long-term patency of internal mammary artery bypass grafts: relationship with preoperative severity of the native coronary artery stenosis. Circulation 110:II36–II40
- Bernfield M, Götte M, Park PW et al (1999) Functions of cell surface Heparan Sulfate proteoglycans. Annu Rev Biochem 68:729–777
- Brewster DC (1997) Current controversies in the management of aortoiliac occlusive disease. J Vasc Surg 25:365–379
- Buijtenhuijs P, Buttafoco L, Poot AA et al (2004) Tissue engineering of blood vessels: characterization of smooth-muscle cells for culturing on collagen-and-elastin-based scaffolds. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 39:141–149
- Buttafoco L, Kolkman NG, Engbers-Buijtenhuijs P et al (2006) Electrospinning of collagen and elastin for tissue engineering applications. Biomaterials 27:724–734
- Caves JM, Kumar VA, Martinez AW et al (2010a) The use of microfiber composites of elastin-like protein matrix reinforced with synthetic collagen in the design of vascular grafts. Biomaterials 31:7175–7182
- Caves JM, Kumar VA, Wen J et al (2010b) Fibrillogenesis in continuously spun synthetic collagen fiber. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater 93:24–38
- Caves JM, Kumar VA, Xu W et al (2010c) Microcrimped collagen fiber-elastin composites. Adv Mater 22:2041–2044
- Cines DB, Pollak ES, Buck CA et al (1998) Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders. J Am Soc Hematol 91:3527–3561
- Clark JM, Glagov S (1985) Transmural organization of the arterial media. The lamellar unit revisited. Arteriosclerosis 5:19–34
- Clowes AW (1993) Intimal hyperplasia and graft failure. In: Cardiovascular pathology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp 179–186
- Conte MS, Bandyk DF, Clowes AW et al (2006) Results of PREVENT III: a multicenter, randomized trial of edifoligide for the prevention of vein graft failure in lower extremity bypass surgery. J Vasc Surg 43:742–751
- Cummings CL, Gawlitta D, Nerem RM, Stegemann JP (2004) Properties of engineered vascular constructs made from collagen, fibrin, and collagen-fibrin mixtures. Biomaterials 25:3699–3706
- Dahl SLM, Rucker RB, Niklason LE (2005) Effects of copper and cross-linking on the extracellular matrix of tissue-engineered arteries. Cell Transplant 14:861–868
- Dahl SLM, Rhim C, Song YC, Niklason LE (2007) Mechanical properties and compositions of tissue engineered and native arteries. Ann Biomed Eng 35:348–355
- Dahl SLM, Kypson AP, Lawson JH et al (2011) Readily available tissue-engineered vascular grafts. Sci Transl Med 3:68ra9
- De Vries MR, Simons KH, Jukema JW et al (2016) Vein graft failure: from pathophysiology to clinical outcomes. Nat Rev Cardiol 13:451–470
- Debelle L, Tamburro AM (1999) Elastin: molecular description and function. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31:261–272
- DeRubertis BG, Faries PL, McKinsey JF et al (2007) Shifting paradigms in the treatment of lower extremity vascular disease. Ann Surg 246:415–424
- Desmoulière A, Chaponnier C, Gabbiani G (2005) Tissue repair, contraction, and the myofibroblast. Wound Repair Regen 13:7–12
- Deuse T, Hu X, Gravina A et al (2019) Hypoimmunogenic derivatives of induced pluripotent stem cells evade immune rejection in fully immunocompetent allogeneic recipients. Nat Biotechnol 37:252–258

Dorbin PB (1978) Mechanical properties of arteries. Physiol Rev 58:397-460

- Esmon CT (1989) The roles of protein C and thrombomodulin in the regulation of blood coagulation. J Biol Chem 264:4743–4746
- Esmon CT (2005) The interactions between inflammation and coagulation. Br J Haematol 131:417-430
- Garipcan B, Maenz S, Pham T et al (2011) Image analysis of endothelial microstructure and endothelial cell dimensions of human arteries - a preliminary study. Adv Eng Mater 13: B54–B57
- Gasser TC, Ogden RW, Holzapfel GA (2006) Hyperelastic modelling of arterial layers with distributed collagen fibre orientations. J R Soc Interface 3:15–35
- Gaudino M, Benedetto U, Fremes S et al (2018) Radial-artery or saphenous-vein grafts in coronaryartery bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 378:2069–2077
- Gauvin R, Parenteau-Bareil R, Larouche D et al (2011) Dynamic mechanical stimulations induce anisotropy and improve the tensile properties of engineered tissues produced without exogenous scaffolding. Acta Biomater 7:3294–3301
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL et al (2013) Heart disease and stroke statistics 2013 update. Circulation 127:e6–e245
- Goldman S, Zadina K, Moritz T et al (2004) Long-term patency of saphenous vein and left internal mammary artery grafts after coronary artery bypass surgery: results from a Department of Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 44:2149–2156
- Gomez D, Owens GK (2012) Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Res 95:156–164
- Gui L, Dash BC, Luo J et al (2016) Implantable tissue-engineered blood vessels from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Biomaterials 102:120–129
- Hall MS, Alisafaei F, Ban E et al (2016) Fibrous nonlinear elasticity enables positive mechanical feedback between cells and ECMs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:14043–14048
- Han X, Wang M, Duan S et al (2019) Generation of hypoimmunogenic human pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116:10441–10446
- Hao H, Gabbiani G, Bochaton-Piallat M-L (2003) Arterial smooth muscle cell heterogeneity. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:1510–1520
- Hess CN, Lopes RD, Gibson CM et al (2014) Saphenous vein graft failure after coronary artery bypass surgery. Circulation 130:1445–1451
- Huang NF, Okogbaa J, Lee JC et al (2013) The modulation of endothelial cell morphology, function, and survival using anisotropic nanofibrillar collagen scaffolds. Biomaterials 34:4038–4047
- Huang AH, Lee Y-U, Calle EA et al (2015) Design and use of a novel bioreactor for regeneration of Biaxially stretched tissue-engineered vessels. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 21:841–851
- Huang AH, Balestrini JL, Udelsman BV et al (2016) Biaxial stretch improves elastic Fiber maturation, collagen arrangement, and mechanical properties in engineered arteries. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 22:524–533
- Humphrey JD (2002) The normal arterial wall. In: Cardiovascular solid mechanics. Springer Science and Business Media, New York, pp 249–364
- Hunt BJ, Jurd KM (1998) Endothelial cell activation. A central pathophysiological process. BMJ 316:1328–1329
- Isenberg BC, Backman DE, Kinahan ME et al (2012) Micropatterned cell sheets with defined cell and extracellular matrix orientation exhibit anisotropic mechanical properties. J Biomech 45:756–761
- Johnson WC, Lee KK (2000) A comparative evaluation of polytetrafluoroethylene, umbilical vein, and saphenous vein bypass grafts for femoral-popliteal above-knee revascularization: a prospective randomized Department of Veterans Affairs cooperative study. J Vasc Surg 32:268–277
- Kalra M, Miller VM, Miller VM (2000) Early remodeling of saphenous vein grafts: proliferation, migration and apoptosis of adventitial and medial cells occur simultaneously with changes in graft diameter and blood flow. J Vasc Res 37:576–584

- Kirkton RD, Santiago-Maysonet M, Lawson JH et al (2019) Bioengineered human acellular vessels recellularize and evolve into living blood vessels after human implantation. Sci Transl Med 11:1–12
- Klinkert P, Post P, Breslau P, van Bockel J (2004) Saphenous vein versus PTFE for above-knee Femoropopliteal bypass. A review of the literature. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 27:357–362
- Konig G, McAllister TN, Dusserre N et al (2009) Mechanical properties of completely autologous human tissue engineered blood vessels compared to human saphenous vein and mammary artery. Biomaterials 30:1542–1550
- Koobatian MT, Row S, Smith RJ et al (2016) Successful endothelialization and remodeling of a cell-free small-diameter arterial graft in a large animal model. Biomaterials 76:344–358
- Kumar VA, Brewster LP, Caves JM, Chaikof EL (2011) Tissue engineering of blood vessels: functional requirements, progress, and future challenges. Cardiovasc Eng Technol 2:137–148
- Kumar VA, Martinez AW, Caves JM et al (2014) Microablation of collagen-based substrates for soft tissue engineering. Biomed Mater 9:011002
- L'Heureux N, Pâquet S, Labbé R et al (1998) A completely biological tissue-engineered human blood vessel. FASEB J 12:47–56
- L'Heureux N, Dusserre N, Konig G et al (2006) Human tissue engineered blood vessel for adult arterial revascularization. Nat Med 12:361–365
- L'Heureux N, McAllister TN, de la Fuente LM (2007) Tissue-engineered blood vessel for adult arterial revascularization. N Engl J Med 357:1451–1453
- Lai VK, Frey CR, Kerandi AM et al (2012) Microstructural and mechanical differences between digested collagen-fibrin co-gels and pure collagen and fibrin gels. Acta Biomater 8:4031–4042
- Lampugnani MG (2012) Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions: adhesion and signaling in physiology and pathology. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006528
- Lawson JH, Glickman MH, Ilzecki M et al (2016) Bioengineered human acellular vessels for dialysis access in patients with end-stage renal disease: two phase 2 single-arm trials. Lancet 387:2026–2034
- Le Lièvre CS, Le Douarin NM (1975) Mesenchymal derivatives of the neural crest: analysis of chimaeric quail and chick embryos. Development 34:125–154
- Lee YU, Naito Y, Kurobe H et al (2013) Biaxial mechanical properties of the inferior vena cava in C57BL/6 and CB-17 SCID/bg mice. J Biomech 46:2277–2282
- Lemson MS, Tordoir JHM, Daemen MJAP, Kitslaar PJEHM (2000) Intimal hyperplasia in vascular grafts. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 19:336–350
- Li W (2018) Biomechanical property and modelling of venous wall. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 133:56-75
- Liao JK (2013) Linking endothelial dysfunction with endothelial cell activation. J Clin Invest 123:540-541
- Lin Y, Weisdorf DJ, Solovey A, Hebbel RP (2000) Origins of circulating endothelial cells and endothelial outgrowth from blood. J Clin Invest 105:71–77
- Linsenmayer TF (1991) Collagen. In: Cell biology of extracellular matrix. Springer, Boston, pp 7-44
- Liu W, Lipner J, Moran CH et al (2015) Generation of electrospun nanofibers with controllable degrees of crimping through a simple, plasticizer-based treatment. Adv Mater 27:2583–2588
- Loop FD, Lytle BW, Cosgrove DM et al (1986) Influence of the internal-mammary-artery graft on 10-year survival and other cardiac events. N Engl J Med 314:1–6
- Luo J, Qin L, Kural MH et al (2017) Vascular smooth muscle cells derived from inbred swine induced pluripotent stem cells for vascular tissue engineering. Biomaterials 147:116–132
- Maiellaro K, Taylor WR (2007) The role of the adventitia in vascular inflammation. Cardiovasc Res 75:640–648
- Matsumoto T, Sugita S, Yaguchi T (2015) Biomechanics of blood vessels: structure, mechanics, and adaptation. In: Advances in metallic biomaterials. Springer, Berlin, Germany, pp 71–98
- McAllister TN, Maruszewski M, Garrido SA et al (2009) Effectiveness of haemodialysis access with an autologous tissue-engineered vascular graft: a multicentre cohort study. Lancet 373:1440–1446

- McClure MJ, Sell SA, Simpson DG et al (2010) A three-layered electrospun matrix to mimic native arterial architecture using polycaprolactone, elastin, and collagen: a preliminary study. Acta Biomater 6:2422–2433
- McKinsey JF, Goldstein L, Khan HU et al (2008) Novel treatment of patients with lower extremity ischemia: use of percutaneous Atherectomy in 579 lesions. Trans Meet Am Surg Assoc 126:160–169
- Mehta RH, Ferguson TB, Lopes RD et al (2011) Saphenous vein grafts with multiple versus single distal targets in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: one-year graft failure and five-year outcomes from the project of ex-vivo vein graft engineering via transfection (PRE-VENT) IV trial. Circulation 124:280–288
- Miranda-Nieves D, Chaikof EL (2017) Collagen and elastin biomaterials for the fabrication of engineered living tissues. ACS Biomater Sci Eng 3:694–711
- Misra S, Fu AA, Misra KD et al (2010) Hypoxia-induced phenotypic switch of fibroblasts to Myofibroblasts through a matrix metalloproteinase 2/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinasemediated pathway: implications for venous neointimal hyperplasia in hemodialysis access. J Vasc Interv Radiol 21:896–902
- Mithieux SM, Weiss AS (2005) Elastin. Adv Protein Chem 70:437-461
- Motwani JG, Topol EJ (1998) Aortocoronary saphenous vein graft disease: pathogenesis, predisposition, and prevention. Circulation 97:916–931
- Mwipatayi BP, Hockings A, Hofmann M et al (2008) Balloon angioplasty compared with stenting for treatment of femoropopliteal occlusive disease: a meta-analysis. J Vasc Surg 47:461–469
- Naik N, Caves J, Chaikof EL, Allen MG (2014) Generation of spatially aligned collagen fiber networks through microtransfer molding. Adv Healthc Mater 3:367–374
- Neidert MR, Lee ES, Oegema TR, Tranquillo RT (2002) Enhanced fibrin remodeling in vitro with TGF-B1, insulin and plasmin for improved tissue-equivalents. Biomaterials 23:3717–3731
- Niklason LE, Abbott W, Gao J et al (2001) Morphologic and mechanical characteristics of engineered bovine arteries. J Vasc Surg 33:628–638
- Niu Z, Wang X, Meng X et al (2019) Controllable fiber orientation and nonlinear elasticity of electrospun nanofibrous small diameter tubular scaffolds for vascular tissue engineering. Biomed Mater 14:035006
- Owens GK (1995) Regulation of differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Physiol Rev 75:487–517
- Parish CR (2006) The role of heparan sulphate in inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 6:633-643
- Parks WC, Richard AP, Katherine AL, Mecham RP (1993) Elastin. Adv Mol Cell Biol 6:133-181
- Patsch C, Challet-Meylan L, Thoma EC et al (2015) Generation of vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 17:994–1003
- Pereira CE, Albers M, Romiti M et al (2006) Meta-analysis of femoropopliteal bypass grafts for lower extremity arterial insufficiency. J Vasc Surg 44:510–517.e3
- Piffaretti G, Dorigo W, Castelli P et al (2018) Results from a multicenter registry of heparin-bonded expanded polytetrafluoroethylene graft for above-the-knee femoropopliteal bypass. J Vasc Surg 67:1463–1471
- Poh M, Boyer M, Dahl SLM et al (2005) Blood vessels engineered from human cells. Lancet 365:2122–2124
- Qu Z, Chaikof EL (2010) Prosthetic grafts. In: Rutherford's vascular surgery. Elsevier, USA
- Rabenstein DL (2002) Heparin and heparan sulfate: structure and function. Nat Prod Rep 19:312-331
- Rensen SSM, Doevendans PAFM, van Eys GJJM (2007) Regulation and characteristics of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotypic diversity. Neth Hear J 15:100–108
- Rezakhaniha R, Agianniotis A, Schrauwen JTC et al (2012) Experimental investigation of collagen waviness and orientation in the arterial adventitia using confocal laser scanning microscopy. Biomech Model Mechanobiol 11:461–473
- Rhodin J (1979) Architecture of the vessel wall. In: Berne RM (ed) Handbook of physiology, Section 2, vol 2. American Physiological Society, Maryland, USA

- Rim NG, Yih A, Hsi P et al (2018) Micropatterned cell sheets as structural building blocks for biomimetic vascular patches. Biomaterials 181:126–139
- Robertson AM, Watton PN (2013) Mechanobiology of the arterial wall. Transp Biol Media 1: 275–347
- Roh JD, Nelson GN, Brennan MP et al (2009) Small-diameter biodegradable scaffolds for functional vascular tissue engineering in the mouse model. Biomaterials 29:1454–1463
- Roh JD, Sawh-Martinez R, Brennan MP et al (2010) Tissue-engineered vascular grafts transform into mature blood vessels via an inflammation-mediated process of vascular remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:4669–4674
- Sand JMB, Genovese F, Karsdal MA (2016) Type IV collagen. Biochem Collagens Laminins Elastin 2:31–41
- Sartore S, Chiavegato A, Faggin E et al (2001) Contribution of adventitial fibroblasts to neointima formation and vascular remodeling from innocent bystander to active participant. Circ Res 89:1111–1121
- Sasaki T, Arai K, Ono M et al (1987) Ehlers-Danlos syndrome: a variant characterized by the deficiency of Proa2 chain of type I Procollagen. Arch Dermatol 123:76
- Schjørring OL, Carlsson R, Simonsen U (2015) Pressure Myography to study the function and structure of isolated small arteries. Humana Press, New York, pp 277–295
- Shekhonin BV, Domogatsky SP, Muzykantov VR et al (1985) Distribution of type I, III, IV and V collagen in normal and atherosclerotic human arterial wall: immunomorphological characteristics. Coll Relat Res 5:355–368
- Shi Y, O'Brien JE, Fard A et al (1996) Adventitial Myofibroblasts contribute to neointimal formation in injured porcine coronary arteries. Circulation 94:1655–1664
- Shoulders MD, Raines RT (2009) Collagen structure and stability. Annu Rev Biochem 78:929-958
- Solan A, Mitchell S, Moses M, Niklason L (2003) Effect of pulse rate on collagen deposition in the tissue-engineered blood vessel. Tissue Eng 9:579–586
- Sorrell JM, Caplan AI (2009) Fibroblasts a diverse population at the center of it all, Chapter 4. In: International review of cell and molecular biology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp 161–214
- Sottiurai VS, Yao JS, Flinn WR, Batson RC (1983) Intimal hyperplasia and neointima: an ultrastructural analysis of thrombosed grafts in humans. Surgery 93:809–817
- Stearns-Kurosawa DJ, Kurosawa S, Mollica JS et al (1996) The endothelial cell protein C receptor augments protein C activation by the thrombin-thrombomodulin complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:10212–10216
- Stenmark KR, Nozik-Grayck E, Gerasimovskaya E et al (2011) The adventitia: essential role in pulmonary vascular remodeling. Compr Physiol 1:141–161
- Stenmark KR, Yeager ME, El Kasmi KC et al (2013) The adventitia: essential regulator of vascular wall structure and function. Annu Rev Physiol 75:23–47
- Strauss BH, Rabinovitch M (2000) Adventitial fibroblasts defining a role in vessel wall remodeling. Perspect Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 22:1–3
- Sumpio B, Riley J, Dardik A (2002) Cells in focus: endothelial cell. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 34:1508–1512
- Syedain ZH, Weinberg JS, Tranquillo RT (2008) Cyclic distension of fibrin-based tissue constructs: evidence of adaptation during growth of engineered connective tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:6537–6542
- Syedain ZH, Meier LA, Bjork JW et al (2011) Implantable arterial grafts from human fibroblasts and fibrin using a multi-graft pulsed flow-stretch bioreactor with noninvasive strength monitoring. Biomaterials 32:714–722
- Syedain Z, Reimer J, Lahti M et al (2016) Tissue engineering of acellular vascular grafts capable of somatic growth in young lambs. Nat Commun 7:1–9
- Syedain ZH, Graham ML, Dunn TB et al (2017) A completely biological "off-the-shelf" arteriovenous graft that recellularizes in baboons. Sci Transl Med 9:eaan4209
- Taggart DP, Benedetto U, Gerry S et al (2019) Bilateral versus single internal-thoracic-artery grafts at 10 years. N Engl J Med 380:437–446

- Van Der Slegt J, Steunenberg SL, Donker JMW et al (2014) The current position of precuffed expanded polytetrafluoroethylene bypass grafts in peripheral vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg 60:120–128
- Wagenseil JE, Mecham RP (2009) Vascular extracellular matrix and arterial mechanics. Physiol Rev 89:957–989
- Wang Y, Hu J, Jiao J et al (2014) Engineering vascular tissue with functional smooth muscle cells derived from human iPS cells and nanofibrous scaffolds. Biomaterials 35:8960–8969
- Wanjare M, Kuo F, Gerecht S (2013) Derivation and maturation of synthetic and contractile vascular smooth muscle cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Cardiovasc Res 97:321–330
- Wanjare M, Kusuma S, Gerecht S (2014) Defining differences among perivascular cells derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rep 2:1–15
- Weinberg C, Bell E (1986) A blood vessel model constructed from collagen and cultured vascular cells. Science. (80–) 231:397–400
- Weintraub WS, Grau-Sepulveda MV, Weiss JM et al (2012) Comparative effectiveness of revascularization strategies. N Engl J Med 366:1467–1476
- Wilson DP (2011) Vascular smooth muscle structure and function. University of Adelaide Press, Adelaide, Australia
- Wu W, Allen RA, Wang Y (2012) Fast-degrading elastomer enables rapid remodeling of a cell-free synthetic graft into a neoartery. Nat Med 18:1148–1153
- Wystrychowski W, McAllister TN, Zagalski K et al (2014) First human use of an allogeneic tissueengineered vascular graft for hemodialysis access. J Vasc Surg 60:1353–1357
- Xing Q, Qian Z, Tahtinen M et al (2017) Aligned Nanofibrous cell-derived extracellular matrix for anisotropic vascular graft construction. Adv Healthc Mater 6:1–9
- Xu H, Wang B, Ono M et al (2019) Targeted disruption of HLA genes via CRISPR-Cas9 generates iPSCs with enhanced immune compatibility. Cell Stem Cell 24:566–578.e7
- Yokoyama U, Tonooka Y, Koretake R et al (2017) Arterial graft with elastic layer structure grown from cells. Sci Rep 7:1–16
- Yu J, Wang A, Tang Z et al (2012) The effect of stromal cell-derived factor-1α/heparin coating of biodegradable vascular grafts on the recruitment of both endothelial and smooth muscle progenitor cells for accelerated regeneration. Biomaterials 33:8062–8074
- Yu X, Turcotte R, Seta F, Zhang Y (2018a) Micromechanics of elastic lamellae: unravelling the role of structural inhomogeneity in multi-scale arterial mechanics. J R Soc Interface 15:20180492
- Yu X, Wang Y, Zhang Y (2018b) Transmural variation in elastin fiber orientation distribution in the arterial wall. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 77:745–753
- Zeinali-Davarani S, Wang Y, Chow M-J et al (2015) Contribution of collagen Fiber undulation to regional biomechanical properties along porcine thoracic aorta. J Biomech Eng 137:051001